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Background
This matter is premised upon the claims of Piotr Nowak (Claimant or Mr.
Nowak), former head coach, manager and Executive Vice President of Soccer
Operations for the Philadeiphia Union (Respondent or Philadelphia Union), a
Major League Socger Club. In short, the Claimant contends that Respondent
terminated him on June 13, 2012 without cause, and in bad faith, contrary to the
terms of the parties’ Employment Agreement, from which my jurisdiction as

arbitrator is based.

To the contrary, Respondent contends that it had cause to terminate the
Claimant under the Employment Agreement for specific alleged misconduct,
‘Respondent also has made counter-claims in this proceeding: 1) alleging that
the Claimant has failed to reimburse Respondent the remaining monies
advanced pursuantto an agresment reached between the Respondent and Pino
Sports LLC, Claimant’s limited liability company. (The Pino Agreement) Under
the Pino Agreement, Claimant had granted his marketing rights to Respondent;
and 2) Claimant failed fo repay the remaining balance of a loan made to Claimant

by Respondent.

Initially, Claimant sought to litigate this matter in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District hy filing a Complaint on July 20, 2012. Counsel for
Respondent fifed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint.and Compel Arbitration, as

the Employment Agreement has an arbitration clause which governs these:
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disputes. On September 26, 2012, the Court issued an Order compeiling
Claimant to pursue his claims through arbitration. On December 5, 2012,
Claimant filed a Demand for Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association,
and the undersigned was sélected as arbitrator in line with the Association’s

procedures. _

Arbitration hearings were held in this matter on May 28, 29:and 30, 2014,
and August 19 and 20, 2014, at which time all parties were granted the full
opportunity to present testimonial and documentary evidence in support of their
positions. Both sides filed written briefs and reply briefs which were received by
the undersigned by December 24, 2014. The parties granted the undersigned an
extension until April 24, 2015 within which to issue her Award on the merits of the

disputes.

At arbitration hearing, the following witnesses testified: Piotr Nowak,
Clalmant; Nicholas Sakiewicz, Chief Executive Officer, Operating Partner and
co-founder of the Philadelphia Union; Dave Debusschere, Executive Vice
President and CFO of Keystone Sports & Entertainment and subsidiaries; Todd
Durbin, Executive Vice President of Com’peﬁt’ion', Player and Labor Relations for
Major League Soccer (MLS); Robert Foose, Executive Director of the Major
League Soccer Players' Union (MLSPU); SIS Fhiadelphia
Union player S
Philadeiphia Union player GRN e D i)
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U ' iladeiphia Union player QSIS

R — - o (' (e Phiadelphia
Union; (R - < ver for the Philadelphia Union; Paul Rushing,

Head Athletic Trainer for the. Philadelphia Union; Steve Hudyma, Assistant
Athletic Trainer for the Philadelphia Union; Shep Messing sports commentator
and former sports agent and soccer player; Mike Morris, sporté agent; and
Diego Guitierrez, former Sporting Director and head of scouting and player
development for the Philadelphia Union. The deposition of Jay Sugarman, co-
owner of the Philadelphia Union, was received as evidence in lieu of testimony.

(CL12)

As an initial matter, Claimant has named both Pennsylvania Professional
Soccer LLC and Keystone Sports Entertainment LLC as Respondents in this
matter. Counsel for Respondent avers in their brief that Claimant was at all times
employed by Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC and not Keystone Sports
and Entertainment. This is contrary 1o the evidence (See Employment
Agreement Addendum RX 8). In any event, Respondent has made no mation to
dism_iss;iKeyston‘e as Respondent in these proceedings. Accordi.ngly,v.bcth

entities will be referred to jointly as Respondent or the Philadelphia Union.
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ISSUE

At arbitration hearing, the parties stipulated to the following issue:

Whether any claim or counterclaim should be sustained. If sustained, the

damages will be subject to proof. (T. 4)

1. BACKGROUND

Summary
Claimant Piotr Nowak was born in Poland and began playing professional
socceratage 15. In 1998, Mr. Nowak was signed to play soccer for the Major
League Soccerteam Chicago Fire. Mr. Nowak was captain of the team, and

played for them for five years. Mr. Nowak retired as a playet, and then was hired

therm to*the,piayoffs and winning the Supporter Shield in 2006. After leaving DC
United, the Claimant became the-interim coach of the U.S. Men’s National Team.
He also became the head coach of the U.S. U23 Olympic Team. Mr. Nowak had

a reputation for being a good coach, but one with a'passionate and fiery sireak.

The Philadelphia Union franchise was created in 2008, their first season
being 2010. Mr, Nowak was hired as manager and head coach after

Respondent paid monies to U.S. Soccer to-release Mr. Nowak. As shown below,
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the parties entered into an employment agreement and marketing rights

agreement in June 2009.

The Claimant had initial success as coach of the Philadelphia Union, with
the team making the playoffs in"2011, only the second year of their franchise.
Mr. Sakiewicz testified that going into the 2012 season, he had no intention of
terminating the Claimarit as head coach. (T. 546) Demonstrating this, the parties
entered into an addendum Employment Agreement af the end of 2011,
increasing the Claimant’s compensation and extending the term of the
Employment Agreement until December, 2015. The Respondent also gave

maonies to the grievant, through an advance and loan, totaling $145,000, so that

Mr. Nowak could buy a house in the Philadelphia area.

However, due to a series of events, Respondent terminated the Claimant
on June 13, 2012. Respondent contends that the Claimant was fired for cause;
therefore it has refused to pay Claimant any monies .owed under the Employment
Agreement beyond the June 13, 2012 termination date. Respondent also claims
that, given Mr. Nowak's termination, the unpaid monies it advanced and loaned

to Claimant became immeédiately due upon his-separation from employment.

Players are employed by Major League Soccer (MLS), not by the
Philadelphia Urifon, ‘On the other hand, as demonstrated by the Employment

Agreement, Claimant was employed by Respondent. Players are represented
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for collective bargaining purposes by the Major League Soccer Players' Union
(MLSPU). The Players’ Union Executive Director, Mr, Foose, met with
Philadelphia Union players on March 12, 2012. After that meeting, and in
response to an issue raised about IS Mr. Nowak allegedly
engaged in intérference with the players’ rights to contact the MLSPU, including
demanding the names of players who had spoken to the Players’ Union, and

telling players they should not contact their Players’ Union. On or about (N

On April 21, 2012, the Claimant received a red card ejection for leaving.
the Technical Area and initiating contact with an opposing player, resulting in a

fine and suspension to him, and a fine to the Club. (RX 7; T. 556)

In May 2012, Mr. Messing told Mr. Sakiewicz of & conversation he had
with the Claimant in which the Claimant allegedly asked him o find him a new
job, and said disparaging things about the Philadelphia Union franchise. Both of

these acts violate the Employment Agreement.

On May 28, 2012, Mr. Durbin Executive Vice-President of MLS informed
Mr. Sakiewicz that it was beginning an investigation of the Claimant over the

alleged interference issue.
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On the same date, the Philadeiphia Union lost to Toronto, a team that
going into the match had not won that season. The Claimant allegedly was
angry and told the players that he was cancelling planned days' off and he was

scheduling additional training.

On May 31,2012, Mr. Nowak led a long training run under very hot and
potentially dangerous conditions in which he aflegedly denied players’ the right to
water,.and required injured players to participate. This led to complaints by Head
Trainer Rushing to the' League, and was the subject of further MLSPU complaints

to the MLS.

On June 86,2012, Mr. Durbin informed Mr. Sakiewicz that it was going to
add further allegations to its investigation, including the May 31 run and Mr.
Nowak’s alleged interference with the team’s medical staff, communicating the

League and Players Union concerns over Mr. Nowak's alleged conduct.

On June10, 2012 MLS staff members interviewed Mr.. Rushing and
Philadelphia Union players. In those interviews, the MLS learned ‘of further
allsged misconduct of Mr. Nowak, invelving the hazing of rookie players; and his

freatment of players complaining of concussion symptoms.
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On June 10, 2012, after the interviews were concluded, Mr. Durbin
advised Mr. Sakiewicz of the results of the interviews. The MLS laterissued a

report which was sent to Mr. Sakiewicz by email (the MLS report) (CX 2).

On June 13, 2012 Mr. Sakiewicz had a meeting with Mr. Nowak in which

he advised him of his termination-and presented him witha termination letter.

The evidence elicited at arbitration regarding the above allegations is

discussed below.

The Termination Letter

The June 13, 2012 letter issued to Mr. Nowak states as follows:

Reference is hereby made to that certain (i) Manager Employment
Agreement between Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLG ("Club”} and
Riofr Nowak (“Manager”), dated June 1, 2009, as amiended (the
Employment Agreement” and (/) Agreement between Club and Pino
Spotts, LL/c, a Florida limited liability-company (“Pino”), dated June 1,
2009, as amended (the “Pino Agreement’). Capitalized terms used but
not defined in this letter have the meanings given to them in the
Employment Agreement.

Club hereby notifies Manager that It is terminating the Employment
Agreement, and Manager's employment thereunder, for cause pursuant to
‘Paragraph lll(A) due to:

1, various material breaches of League Rules (including the League’s
Collective Bargaining Agreement), including physical confrontations with
players and officials during a Team game resulting in a fine and mufti-
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game suspens;on interfering with the rights.of Team players to contact
the players' union with concerns, subjecting Team players to inappropriate
hazing activities and engaging in behavior that puts the health.and safety
of team players at risk.

2. matetial breaches of the Employment Agreement, including engaging.
in discussions regarding, and otherwise actively seeking, employment by
other professional soccer teams in Europe and making disparaging
remarks to third parties regarding Club, it's management and ownership.

3. demonstrating gross negligence, including putting the health and safety
of Team members at risk.by requiring injured players to participate in
strenuous training act:wttes, not allowing players to have water during
such activities despite temperatures in excess of 80 degrees, ignoting the
advice of the head athietic trainer regardmg which pla yers are healthy
enough to play in games and participate in training sessions and creating
an atmosphere where medical issues should be hid from medical staff and
not freated.

4. Committing actions that have reflected in a materially adverse manner
on the integrity, reputation and goodwill of Club and the Team (in the eyes
of the League, U.S. Soccer, current and potential team players, sponsors
and fans), including the unusually harsh treatment of players described
above, actions during Team games that have resuited in fines and
suspensions, the muitiple breaches of Leagué Rules and a discussion (by
you or an agent on your behalf) with the head of U.S. Soccer that was in
very poor taste and left a very bad impression with U.S. Soccer.

5. Multiple incidents of insubordination with respect fo the Club’s Chief
Executive Officer, including claiming at one point (in direct contradiction to
the terms of the Employment Agreement) that he does not report to the
Club’s Chief-Executive Officer.

6. Various material breaches.of Team Rules, including creating a hostile
work enviroriment and culture of fear for Team players and other front
office employees by orally berating and physically intimidating fellow
employées.

Club has determined-that the above infractions are not capable of being
cured and believes your continued employment by Club would continue fo
cause material harm to Club.

‘Club wishes to remind you in connection with termination of your
employment that the-Pino Agreement also is automat:cally terminated
‘(and-you how owe the.club the portion of the marketing rights fees
($46,041) that were prepaid thereunder to Pino for the remainder of the

10
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2012 year), the outstanding principal of, and accrued but unpaid interest
on, the Loan are now due and payable and you remain subject to
covenants in the Employment Agreement regarding confidentiality, non-
solicitation, return of Club property and non-disparagement. (RX 36)

Employment Agreement

Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC a/k/a Philadelphia Union, entered
into a Manager Employment Agreement with the Claimant, Piotr Nowak on June
1, 2009. (RX 1) The employment agreement was reached after negotiation by
both sides, and the Claimant was represented by counsel. The original
agreement had a term set to expire on December 31, 2012, On December 20,
2010, by letter agreement, the parties agreed to extend the employmerit
agreement's term to December 31, 2015, giving the Claimant the additional title
of Executive Vice President of Soccer Operations. (RX 3) On December 20,
2011, the parties agreed in writing that the December 20, 2010 addendum was
null and void, to be replaced by the December 20, 2011 addendum which
amended the terms of the original employment agreement with regard to
Claimant's title and compensation, granted Claimant a loan, and confirmed that
the employment agresment was extended to December 31, 2015, and otherwise

incorporated the Initial employment agreement in all relevant respects. (RX 5)

The Employment Agreement in effect as of the time of the Claimant's

termination had the following terms, of relevance in this dispute:

11
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. EMPLOYMENT

(A) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, Club hereby
smpioys Manager to be, and Manager accepts the employment as, the
sole manager of the Team and the Club’s soccer operations...

Rk kk

(C) Manager expressly acknowledges that Manager is subject fo the
jurisdiction of the Commissioner of the League and that the Commissioner
(subject to any due process and appeals process provided for in League
Rules) and Club (subject to Paragraph Xill) may impose sanctions and
other dfso;plmary measures, including, without limitation, suspendmg
Manager (with or without pay) and imposing fines (which may be deducted
from amounts payable to Manager pursuant to Paragraph IV), for
violations of this Agreement or for actions (including on-field actions) that
materially adversely affect the integrity or reputation of the League or the
Team. Without limiting the foregoing, Manager expressly acknowledges
and agrees that he shall be subject to discipline by the League (subject to
any due process and appeals process provided for in League rules) or
Club (subject fo Paragraph X, mcludmg, without limitation, fines,
suspension (with or without pay) or termination of this Agreement, if:

*xk

(v) he.makes a statement or engages in conduct (including, without
limitation, criticism of officiating and league disciplinary rulings) that
is materially prejudicial to the interests of the League or the Team
or materially detrimental to the public image and/or reputation of the
League, the Club and/or the game of soccer.

The League (subject to any due process and appeals process provided for
in League rules). or-Club (subject to Paragraph X1ll), as applicablé, shall
determine, in good faith and its sole discretion, whether Manager has
engaged in any of the above listed behaviors.

lll. Termination

(A) This Agreement, and Manager’s employment hereunder, will be
deemed to be terminated prior to the expiration of the Term upon the
death of Manager. In addition, Club may terminate this Agreement, and
Manager's employment hereunder, upon written notice by Club fo
Manager in the event of the occurrence of any of the following:

*hE

12
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(2) Manager’s willful failure, neglect or refusal to render services
hereunder, or any material breach of this Agreement or the Pino
Agreement as defined below by Manager,

(3) Manager’s gross negligence or willful misconduct in performing
his duties hereunder;

*xx

(5) Manager's commission of any action or involvement in any
occurrence that (x) brings Manager into public disrepute or (y)
reflects in a materially adverse manner on the integrity, reputation.
or goodwill of Club or the Team

(6) Manager engages in any activity set forth in paragraph I(C);

(7) Manager's failure to comply in all material respects with Team
Rules (consistently applied to the coaching staff of the Team) or
League Rules; or

(8) Clubis directed by the Commissioner of the League to
terminate or suspend this Agreement as a result of the acts or
omissions of Manager.

(B) Club may also terminate this Agreement upon written notice fo the
Manager for any reason other then as set forth.in Paragraph Ill(A) above
or forno reason....

(C) Upon termination of this Agreement pursuant to Paragraph lli(A).or (B)
above, all of the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder...., shall
forever cease, including, without limitation, the rights and obligations of the
parties.under Paragraphs IV (Compensation) and V (Additional Benefits),
except that (1) Club shall remain obligated to pay Manager any portion of
the-applicable Base Salary Amount and all bonuses that have been
earhed by Manager pursuant to Paragraph IV (A} or IV (C), as applicable,
below but have not yet been paid as of the date of termination and (2) in
the event of Manager's termination by Club pursuant to Paragraph Ill(B)
above..., Club shall remain obligated to pay Manager, in accordance with
the payment schedule set forth in Paragraph IV(B) below and subject to
the terms of Paragraph (D) below, the applicable Base Salary Amount
provided for in Paragraph IV(A) below through December 31, 2015 (the
Severance Payments”).

Whether Club has terminated this Agreement pursuant to-Paragraph IHI(A)

or (B) shall be determined in good faith by Club at it's-reasonable
discretion; provided that (i) prior to-ferminating Manager pursuant {o

13
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Paragraph lil(A), Club shall specify in reasonable detail the reason
Manager is being so terminated and give Manager an opportunity to
respond thereto, (i) such determination shall be subject to Paragraph Xill,
and (iii) prior fo terminating Manager pursuant to-clause (2), (3), or (7) of
Paragraph lil{A), Club shall allow Manager fifteen (15) days to cure the
occurrence, except that Club shall have no obligation to provide Manager
such opportunity to cure if Club determines, in his good faith judgment,
that the occurrence is of a nature that is not curable or that Manager's

. continued employment during a cure period could bé reasohably be (sic)
expected to result in material harm to Club.

fekk

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with
Pennsylvania law, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of laws
provision or rule thereof. Any controversy or claim arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or the breach thereof, including, without
limitation, any claims for wrongful termination or employment
discrimination or disputes regarding Manager’s right to Severance
Payrnents heréunder, shall be settled by arbitration in accordance with the
rules of the American Arbitration Association and under the laws of the
state of Pennsylvania (without giving effect to the choice or conflict of law
principles thereof); provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent
either party from seeking equitable relief from a court of competent
jurisdiction. Any such arbitration shall be in the Philadeiphia,
Pennsylvania metropolitan area and the parties hereby consent to
jurisdiction of any court located in Pennsylvania as maybe necessary to
enforce this provision or from which equitable relief is sought hereunder.
With respect to a dispute arising hereunder, the prevailing party shall be
entitled to prompt reimbursement from the other party for reasonable
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection therewith.

Il._EVIDENCE REGARDING ALLEGATIONS AGAINST CLAIMANT

Claimant’s Alleged Interference with Players’ Union Activities

Mr. Foose testified that iri line with his regular practice, on March 15,
2012, he went to visit the players of the Philadelphia Union in his capacity of

Executive Director of the MLSPU. Mr. Foose testified that the MLSPU

14
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representatives visit each Club in the pre-season and meet the full locker room,
including new players. As stated, unlike a typical employer-employee

relationship in other sports, the League employs the players, not the Club.

Mr. Foose testified that, in line with prior practice, he split up the players
into two groups, one composed of those new to the league, and a larger group of

veteran players, discussing pertinent issues in each g;rou'p‘

On March 15, 2012, according to Mr. Foose, he learned that (NG

“ Since all players in every Club are employed by the League, the

MLSPU usually discusses issues raised by players with the League.

Mr. Foose testified that-he felt the simpler thing in this case was to discuss
the issue-directly with Philadelphia Union Sporting Director Diego Guitierrez, a
former player and member of the MLSPU, so he gave him a call. Mr. Foose
spoke to Mr. Guitierrez; and had a follow-up email exchange, in which Claimant
was copied. Mr. Foose testified that the final email between them was March 20,
2012-and he considered the matter resolved, so he did not raise the (S EREES

issue officially with the League, until the following events transpired, (T. 697-701)

15
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SRR /25 2 player with the Philadelphia Union from @i its
R i traded (R s 2iso
the Ma current player with the
Philadelphia Union who has played there since (i NSNS
NN /<! the MLSPU meeting with Mr. Foose
described above, Mr. Nowak called Mr.-and Mr.“o his office. Mr.
Gutierrez was also present. According to Mr..an‘d Mr. (G Mr. Nowak
‘'said to them that if they had an issue, they should raise it with the coaches first,
who could handle things internally, and not go the Players’ Union. After that
closed door meeting, Mr. Nowak had a team meeting and essentially said the
same thing. Mr. Guiierrez echoed Mr. Nowak’s comments. (T. 434-435; 948-
951)

Mr.‘estiﬁed that about a week Jater Mr. Nowak called him while he
was home, asked him who had complained about the-issue to the
Players' Union, specifically asking if either he or Mr.{jJf§had been the one. Mr.
W s:id it was not him and he did not know who raised it. Mr. Nowak
repeated that "we can work together, you don't need'to use your Players’ Union

for any issues that arise.” (T. 950-852)
Mr.‘te‘siiﬁed that approximately two weeks before he was traded, he
got a phone call from the Claimant, who gsked him if he went to the Players’

Union about the (il issue. Mr. @ill8aid he had no ided who went. There

16
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was a suggestion made at hearing that Mr. (il had initially complained,
but Mr. -testifi_e'd that the first he learned of this allegation in the arbitration

proceedings. (T. 436:437; 438-439)

Mr. Foose testified that he also received a phone call from Mr. Nowak
directly, in which the Claiinant said that he did not understand and he did not
think it was appropriate that players should be talking to the Players’ Union, Mr.
Nowak also said to Mr, Foose that he wanted Mr. Foose to tell him the names of
players who had complained about the- issue. Mr. Foose respanded that
it was the job of the MLSPU to communicate with its players, itis a daily
occurrence, and that he would never divulge a personal conversation he had with
a player. Mr. Foose has been the Executive Director of the Players’ Union since
its inception, and he testified he was stunned by the conversation, and had never
had a similar one before. Mr. Foose did not raise the conversation immediately

with the Leagué because he feared retaliation against his players. (T.702-708)

QD - traded on UGG - @i not wantto
be traded and said so 10 his coaches. (T7.443-444) The MLSPU hadan in-
person meeting with the League on May 22, 2012 in which the above issues
involving the Philadelphia Union were placed on the agenda by the MLSPU and
discussed with League officials at that meeting, which included MLS Executive

Vice President Todd Durbin. (T, 709-710)

17
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In his testimony, Mr. Nowak denied that Mr. @iIvas traded because of
his activities with the Players’ Union or specifically the‘ issue, stating that
he was traded due to performance issues, Mr. Nowak and Mr. Guitierrez
characterized their discussions with the team and players as telling them that
they had an “open door” policy and they should feel free o resolve proplems in-
house, Mr. Nowak denied instructing the players not to go to the Players' Union.
Mr. Nowak testified that his closed door meeting witti Mr. (ffjjjjjand Mr. (R
involved him complaining that Mr. (Jlil§had been “storming in the front
office” to-comptain about the {jjjJjfJ#ssve. (T.378-380; 1274)

On or about May 24, 2012, Mr. Sakiewicz received a call from Mr. Durbin
of the League, advising him:that the MLSPU had filed a grievance with the
League, alleging that Philadelphia Union players had been told not to
communicate with the Players’ Union. Mr. Durbin told Mr, Sakiewicz that the
League would be conducting an investigation. (T. 565) Mr, Sakiewicz testified
that after he got the call from Mr. Durbin he met with the Claimant, who told him
he was upset-someone had filed a grievance against him, and he was

-determined to find out all who had complained. (T. 889)

May 31, 2012 Training Run

18
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Respondent contends that the Claimant violated Article 1li{A) of the
Employment Agreement by refusing to allow players water during a May 31,
2012 training run and requiring injured players to participate in the run, all against
the advice of the Club's Head Athletic Trainer, Paul Rushing. Respondent
contends that the required run, under difficult physical conditions, was
punishment for the Team’s prior loss to Toronto.on May 26, 2012. Toronto had

gone into that game without a previous win.

After the Toronto game, Mr. Nowak testified that he made an emotional
speech to the players. (T. 316) As Philadelphia Union players testified, the
Claimant told them that they were not going to have a planned four days off, and
they-should cancel theirtrips. Claimant told the players that they were going to
go home, they were going to work hard, and “shake the trees,” and “we are going
to figure out who sticks and who doesn’t.” Mr. Nowak told them that he
personally cou'!d not be fired, but he made reference to the fact that he had
traded away“ and also the leading scorer, and he made
it clear he was not afraid to make moves regarding players. (T. 460; 954-956;

1030-1031)
The next game, May 29, 2012, was'a U.S. Open Cup game against the |

Rochester Rhinos. Mr. Nowak was unable to coach as.he was serving the

suspension he received. due to his red card éjection for leaving the Technical

19
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Area during the Team’s last U.S. Open Cup game in 2011, (T. 182-184; 320-321;
RX.9)

Mr. Nowak called practice for May 31, 2012 at the Youth Soccer Center
(YSC). The Claimant ordered that the players do'a run on a trail about 100 yards
from the YSC facility. The trail had never before been used by the players for
training. The trail was pavement, uneven in places, and wound through hills and
under frees, The players were required_to do approximately three to four
intervals on the trail, for about 8 to 12 miles. In addition to the players, Mr.
Nowak, Head Trainer Rushing, Assistant Trainer Steve Hudyma, Assistant
Goach Hackworth and Assistant Goal Keeper Coach Ron Vartughian were
present. Weather conditions were sunny and 80 degrees, and players testified

that it was very humid. (T. 213-214; 1074-1079; 1154-1156)

At the beginning of the practice, Mr. Rushing got into an argument with the
Claimant regarding injured players — (NN o). CRNNG_G_——
(right ankle), and IR (2nkle injury). Mr. Rushing stated his opinion that
the injured players should not participate in the run, and that they should stay in
the facility and work on non-weight bearing bikes. The Claimant insisted that
they all come out to the trail and participate. The Claimant also said that he was
going to make the decisions going forward about whether a player-would train or
ptay, not Mr: Rushing or team doctors. Mr. Nowak acknbw_l,ecjge_d in his

testimony that he made all players participate, even the injured players; telling
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them that they had to at least walk the distance. Claimant further acknowledged

that Mr. Rushing advised him that the injured players should not participate, and

Mr. Nowak refused to take the Athletic Trainer's advice. (T. 339-342; 1066-1083;
RXs 13, 27)

“The players were allowed water prior to the run. The trainers brought out
twenty four 22-ounce reusable squirt bottles to the trail. It is undisputed that after
the players returned to the starting place after the first loop, which was
approximately four miles, Mr. Nowak told the players that they coulq not have
water. Instead, they were required to complete the run without water, and were

not allowed fo hydrate until the end. (T. 203-206; 351;1076)

Mr. Rushing testified that the Claimant angrily took the botiles away,
saying, in a harsh manner, that the players could not have water. Mr. Rushing
described how he was very concerned about his players, whose safety. was his
responsibility to ensure. Mr.-Rushing and the Claimant continued to argue about
it. At-ohe point, the trainers tried to sneak water 10 the players as.they lapped,
but Mr. Nowak grabbed the bottles and threw the bottles into-bushes. Although
Mr: Nowak initially denied it, he later admitted that he took bottles out of some
players’ hands and also dumped them into the bushes. (T. 211; 361; 1076-1077;
1258)
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Players testified specifically asto what occurred. mitnessed
Mr. Rushing and Mr. Hudyma, the trainers, arguing with Mr. Nowak about the
water issue, and saw the Claimant take the bottles and throw them into-the
woods, saying “you guys don't need water.” (T. 962-966) \G NI
ORI <stificd that after the first interval, they saw and heard the
Claimant telling players that they werén't going to have any more water. Mr,
Nowak took a bottle out of Mr. (IJiiJJhand. Mr. Qi heard the Claimant
say “I'm going to make men out of these guys.” Mr.{jjjjjj§ complained to Mr.
Rushing that it was “hot as hell and we're out here running, there is no reason

why guys shouldi’'t have water.” (T, 465-466; 1045-1050)

Claimant admits that he told Mr. Rushing, “No fucking water, put the water
back, water willmake you lose focus and if you're thirsty you are weak,” but

claimed he was telling a story about another coach in Germany. (T.212)

At heérin"g», Mr. Nowak contended that he denied water to the players
because one of the players, (SR, was sick and he did not want
other players to get sick by using the same botiles. Mr. Nowak testified that he
had told Mr. Rushing to have individual bottles for each player with their player
number on them, and he failed to comp!y; Mr. Rushing testified that the Claimant
did not make this request. (1136) Assistant Trainer Hudyma testified that Mr.

Nowak did not say this until before the next day’s practice. (1160-1161)
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However, at no time during the May 31, 2012 fraining run did the Claimant
use Mr. QI ilness as a reason he was denying water to the players. Also,
the trainers had individual bottles at the YS€ and Claimant did not tell them to
get those bottlés on May 31. Finally, it was Mr. Nowak's order to have all players
participate in the run, including Mr. G (7. 972;1049-1050; 1066-1069;

1073; 1162-1163)

Mr. Nowak denied that he was attempting to hurt the 'piayé?s,, that he
would not do this because the players are the most valuable asset to the team.

(T. 1270-1271)

After the May 31 run, and before the-next game, (IR a3
diagnosed with a sfress reaction, and he did not play for a week. Injured players
QR - QR v < unable to play for some time after the
runs. Mr. QI was not cleared until at least June 16. Mr. (i} did not-play
for at least ten days. Other players went to the team doctor complaining of the

effects of the runs, (T. 475-476; 1039; 1126-1127; 1090-1093; 1132; RX'13)

G tcstified that during a training a wesk after the May 31 run,
they were allowed to.have water but everyone had their own bottle filled up to a
specific limit — a half for some, a quarter for others. According to Mr. (i Mr.
Nowak told the players that this was “a reminder that they did not need that much

water, that the more water you need, the weaker you-are.” The limitation of water
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by Claimant in later practices was corroborated by Mr.‘ and Assistant
Trainer Hudyma. (T. 973-974; 1049-1050; 1162-1163)

Mr. Rushing testified that he was frustrated and concerned about the May
31 incident so he first called John Galluci, MLS head medical officer, and he sent
a letter to the Chief Medical Officer of the Phitadelphia Unien, Dr. Humrer, Init
he recounted the fact that he believed the Claimant put his players’ health at risk
by having them run the intervals in those conditions without water. Mr, Rushing
described in his letter that he attempted to bring the health.and safety concerns
to the Claimant's attention, and Mr. Nowak told Mr, Rushing that neither he nor
their medical staff would make the determination as to which players-were
healthy enough to play in each game or participate in the training sessions. Mr.
Rushing expressed his frustration that he felt his hands were tied in terms of his

heing able to treat and care for the players. (RX 13)

in addition, on May 31, 2012, Mr. Rushing called Mr. Sakiewicz.and
advised him of the cireumstances underlying the run. Mr. Sakiewicz testified that
Mr. Rushing was “pretty shaken and upset,” Mr, Sakiewicz informed Mr. Rushing
that he no longer reported to Mr. Nowak, but reported directly to Mr., Sakiewicz.

Mr, Sakiewicz informed Mr. Gallugi of this. (T. 670-577)

Dr, Hummer responded in a June 7 letter to Mr. Sakiewicz, in which he

attached Mr. Rushing’s letter. Dr. Hummer stated that Mr. Rushing’s letter raised
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concern, and he gave his opinion that players running under these conditions
were subject to significant risk. The doctor also indicated that training and
playing decisions should be made with input of the training and medical staff. (RX

13)

It was this incident which lead to a broader investigation by the. MLS into

Mr. Nowak’s conduct.

A practice started in 2010 in the preseason training camps of spanking
rookies. In 2012, QIR 2 rookie D 25 one of
those spanked. Mr. Nowak initiated the practice, and engaged in the spanking of
each rookie player, encouraging the rest of the veteran team members to
participate. Mr. Nowak had brought the practice to the Philadelphia Union, as he
had previously engaged in this when Coach of DC United. - In the hazing ritual,
Mr. Nowak had a bucket of ice water nearby, in which he would put his hand prior
to spanking the rookies. Sometimes he ised a sandal to paddle the rookies. (T.

426-427; 438; 970-971)
Claimant admits engaging in this practice, ag described above. He

testified that he had the approval of the players. Mr, Nowak testifled that it was a

good tradition and good for their identity as a team. Mr. ‘Nawakriestiﬁedthathe

25




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-8 Filed 01/05/16 Page 27 of 51
Pa Prof. Soccer LLC, et. al, v Nowak AAA Case No, 14-120-1200-1589

used the ice water to cool down his own hand, given the number of players that

he was paddling. (T. 187-189; 228, 382)

Mr. Sakiewicz was made aware of the hazing in the first year of the
practice, in 2010, as he saw a video of it on a cell phone. Mr. Sakiewicz testified
that he told the Claimant to stop the practice. To the contrary, Mr. Nowak stated
that he informed Mr. Sakiewicz from the beginning, and Mr. Sakiewicz never told
him to stop. Mr. Nowak stated that Mr. Sakiewicz enjoyed watching the videos,
as recently as 2012. Mr. Gutierrez confirmed Mr. Sakiewicz' knowledge, and
said he saw him laughing when he was shown a video of the physical hazing. (T.

189-190; 384; 1215-1218; 1241-1242)

The hazing was brought to the attention of the League and the Players’
Union in the MLS investigation of Mr. Nowak’s conduct in player interviews, and

was a subject of the MLS report.

Concussions
Testimony was elicited regarding Mr: Nowak’s approach in the situation of
aplayer having a possible.concussion. The MLS has concussion protocols. (RX
68). Mr. Nowak acknowledged that he did not know the concussion protocols,
but denied disobeying any kind of MLS regulation or rule. (T. 225-226) Mr,
QI testified that, while he was a player for Mr, Nowak, it was not uncommon

for Mr. Nowak to call a player a “pussy” for comiplaining he had a coneussion. (T.
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479-480) Mr. QiR testified that Mr. Nowak told him that "if you have a
coneussion, you do not need to really miss much time, you're weak if you can’t

play-through a concussion.” (T, 971)

Mr. Nowak testified of two situations involving players showing concussion
symptoms. Mr. Nowak testified that he went to the team equipment manager
and ordered five protective helmets. He did not specifically deny making the

-above comments. (T. 223-224; 1272-1273)
This issue was brought to the attention of the League and the Players’
Union in the MLS investigation of Mr. Nowak’s conduct in player interviews, and

was a subject of the MLS report,

I1l. INVESTIGATION BY MLS INTO CLAIMANT’S ALLEGED MISCONDUCT

As stated above, on May 26, 2012, MLS Executive Vice President Todd
Durbin advised Mr. Sakiewicz that the League was going to conduct an
investigation into the Claimant's alleged interference with the players’ union

‘activitles.

On June 1, 2012, Mr. Foose, Executive Director of the MLSPU, learned of
the May 31, 2012 training run incident and the concussion issue. Thatsame day,
Mr. Foose advised Mr. Durbin. On June 4, 2012, the League also learned about

the hazing allegations through the MLSPU. On June 6, 2012, Mr. Durbin advised
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Mr. Sakiewicz that the League was going to conduct a second investigation into
additional allegations against the Claimant, and “the most immediate is a claim
by the [Players’ Union] fhat Peter is notfollowing the advice/input of the trainer
and medical staff.” (T. 710-719; RX 12)

In order to speak to players, the League and the Player's Union entered
into a confidentiality agreement. The MLSPU requested this to protect the
identity of individuals interviewed, and to prevent reprisal, because, according to
Mr. Foose, there was “an atmosphere in the locker room...that players were
extremely afraid of anybody finding out that they were talking to anyone...there
was-a lot of fear amongst the player pool.” This was only the second time that
MLS and the MLSPU entered into such an agreement. The earlier one also
involved an investigation inte Claimant's conduct when he coached for D.C.
United. Perthe agreement, the name and other identifiable information of the

players who cooperated would not be disclosed. (T. 715-717; 830)

On June 10, 2012, interviews were conducted by League representatives,
who spoke with players and Mr. Rushing about the various allegations. The
Claimant was not interviewed. On the same day, Mr. Durbin called Mr. Sakiewicz
and advised him of the results of the interviews. Mr, Saklewicz and Mr, Durbin
had communications about what should oceur regarding the Claimant. Mr.
Durbin communicated the League’s and the MLSPU'’s concerns that the

Claitnant’s actions interfered with the health and safety of the players, and that
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Mr. Nowak should be kept away from training or coaching the team while his
status was pending. Mr. Durbin testified that he understood from those
communications that the Philadelphia Union was going to fire the Claimant, but
that he, Mrr. Durbin, did not order or direct Mr. Sakiewicz to fire the Claimant.

Mr. Durbin advised Mr. Sakiewicz that he would be receiving a written report from

the MLS. (T. 718-721; 793-804; 827; 832-835; 847-848)

Oh June 12, 2012, the MLS issued a report regarding its interviews,
providing a copy to Mr. Sakiewicz, but not the Claimant. In the report, which was
marked "Privileged and Confidential”, the interviews were summarized regarding
the following allegations: 1) Jeopardizing the health and safety of players by
restricting access to water during training and by requiring injured players to
parficipate in training activities againist the advice of team medical staff, 2)
jeopardizing the health and safety of players by creating an atmosphere where
concussion symptoms should be kept from medical staff and not treated; 3)
interfering with the players’ rights to contact the MLSPU with concerns; 4)
e‘rj:gaging.in_:inabptopriate contact with rookie players as part of annual "hazing”;
and B) creating an overall “culture of fear” where players do not believe they have
the ability to raise and address concerns regarding their work environment. (CL X
2) The report went on to summarize the infermation gleaned from the players
and trainer regarding fhese allegations, without giving the names of players who

were Interviewed.
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As shown above, the information in the MLS report is consistent with the
credible direct evidence presented, through witnesses and documents, in this

arbitration.

IV. THE TERMINATION OF CLAIMANT

As stated, the Philadelphia Union employed Mr. Nowak, not the League.
Mr. Sakiewicz testified that he was shocked by the June 10,2012 call from Mr.
Durbin, advising him of the results of the interviews. Mr. Sakiewicz testified that
Mr. Durbin communicated that the League and the MLSPU did not want Mr.
Nowak to be allowed near the team, but he, Mr. Sakiewicz, did not follow Mr,
Durbin’s direction. Mr. Nowak was allowed to participate in the June 11, 2012
practice, and Mr. Sakiewicz told Executive Vice President Debusschere to
attend. Mr. Sakiewicz also allowed the Claimant to coach a friendly game with
Harrisburg on June 12, 2012, over the objections of the League, while Mr.
Sakiewicz had an opportunity to review the MLS report-and speak to Mr.

Sugarman and other members of the board. (T. 578-582)

Mr. Sakiewicz testified that he made the decision to terminate the grievant
on June 12, 2012. (T.581-582) Mr. Sakiewicz sentthe Claimant.an email early
morning June 13, 2012 and told Mr. Nowak to meet him that day to discuss
allegations against him. In the email, Mr. Sakiewicz listed the allegations set-

forth in the MLS report. (RX 34)
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Mr. Sakiewicz met with the Claimant on June 13, 2012, in the presence of
Mr. Debusschere, ‘At that time, Mr. Sakiewicz gave the Claimant the termination
letter, which Mr. Sakiewicz testified listed the reasons for his decision to

terminate. Mr, Nowak,

Mr. Sakiewicz testified that he reached his conclusions; based upon his
own first-hand knowledge, the contents of MLS report, the information he had
recelved in conversations with others, and after communicating with his
colleagues at thie Philadelphia Union, including Jay Sugarman. Mr. Sakiewicz
testified that it was “100% his decision.” Mr: Sakiewicz testified that he
terminated Mr. Nowak for the primary reason that he had to protect the health
and welfare of his players, as well as the other reasons outlined in the
termination letter. Mr. Sakiewicz testified that he had received a strong
recofnmendation from Mr. Durbin and Mr, Foose, who did not want Mr. Nowak to

coach the players, but that he made the decision.on his-own. (T. 585; 688-592)

Mr, Sakiewicz testified that, at the June-13:meeting, he went over the
above reasoris for tefminating Mr, Nowak for cause. According-to Mr, Sakiewicz,
he offered the Claimant an opportunity to address each allegation, but Mr. Nowak
gave very short non-substantive responses, saying that “this is-not true,” or “this

is bullshit.” (T. 583-585)
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Mr. Nowak testified that he received the email (RX 34) at 7:30 am on June
13, he went to the meeting with Mr. Sakiewicz and Mr, Debusschere about 9:00
am, and he was prepared that he was going to be fired. He was handed the
letter of termination, and he told them that the letter was a “bunch of baloney”
and he knew they were looking for a reason toterminate him. Mr. Nowak
testified that Mr. Sakiewicz said that he should have fired the Claimant last year,
Mr. Nowak asked if this was related to.a personal matter with Mr. Sugarman, and
Mr. Sakiewicz sald nothing. According to Mr. Nowak, he and Mr. Sakiewicz
shook hands at the end of the meeting. Mr. Debusschere asked for his keys.

The Claimant gave no further description of what was said. (T.151-153)
In the June 13 meeting, Mr. Sakiewicz did not give the Claimant the MLS

report. The MLS report was not given to the Claimant until these arbitration

proceedings, and after the parties entered into a confidentiality agreement.

V., RESPONDENT’S COUNTERCLAIMS

Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC,-and Pino Sports, Claimant's
limited liability company, entered into an agreement on June 1, 2009 whereby
Claimant agreed to provide the Philadelphia Union with his markeiing rights — the
right o use Claimant's name, photographs and images for publicity-purposes.

(Pino Agreement) (RX 2)
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On or about March 15, 2011, the parties entered into an Advance and
Pledge Consent agreement, in which the Philadelphia Union agreed to advance
to Pino (Claimant) the remainder of the 2011-fee and all of the 2012 fee under
the Pino Agreement. (RX 4; herein Advance) Pursuant to the Advance, the
payments were due within 30 days of Mr. Nowak's ter_m{nation, and the parties
have stipulated that no such payments were made. (RX'70) The parties agreed
at hearing that, of the total amount advanced to Claimant, $46,680.33 was
unearned at the time Claimant's was terminated. The parties further agreed that
the applicable interest rate is 8%. Respondent seeks an Order requiring
Claimant to remit to Respondent $46,680.33, plus accumulated interest, and

associated costs and attorneys’ fees.

Pursuant to the Amended Employment Agreemenit (RX 5) Respondent
provided Claimant with a $60,000 loan which was t6 be paid back through payroll
deductions during the remainder of the term of the Employment Agreement.
(herein Loan), The Amended Employment Agreement required that upen Mr.
Nowak's termination from the Club, the balance of the Loan became due and
‘payable and-that any delay in re-payment under thosé circumstances would
result in Interest accruing at a setrate. The parties agreed-that, of the-principal
balance of $60,000, the amount of $53,717 remained unpaid. The parties further

agreed that the interest rate applicablé to the Loan is 7%. (RX 70) Respondent
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seeks an Order requiring Claimant to remit to Respondent $53,717, plus

accumulated interest, and associated costs and atforneys’ fees.

DISCUSSION

The Claimant contends that Respondent acted in bad fdith contrary to the
terms of the Employment Agreement, by terminating him and alleging that his
conduct was so egregious that it was incapable of being remediated. According
to Mr, Nowak, the claims in whole-and in part were mere pretext to avoid
honoring the terms of his contract. The Claimant argues that he was firedin a
fundamentally unfair manner, without granting him certain rights of process
provided for under the Employment Agreement. Mr. Nowak does not dispute the
Club’s right to terminate him, but he does dispute the right to terminate him for
“cause” and deprive him of the liveliiood for which he had contracted. Claimant
contends that Respondent acted in bad faith by: 1) failing to confront Mr. Nowak
with their concerns-or inquire of Mr. Nowak his version of the events that the Club
contends are the basis for his termination; 2) by failing to.provide him with an
apportunity to cure any alleged défects; 3) by refusing to-ever identify his
accusers, other than Mr. Rushing; and 4) by ultimately deciding his termination
would be for “cause’ when there was no good faith support for such an assertion.
Mr. Nowak requests that the arbitrator sustain his breach of contract claim and
award. appropriate damageés, including attorneys’ fees and costs, pursuantto the

Employment Agreement.
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To the contrary, Respondent contends that, shortly after the 2011 contract
extension, Mr. Nowak engaged in a pattern of conduct that not only violated the
express terms of the Employment Agreement, but left the Philadelphia Union no
choice but to exercise its discretionary right to terminate the Employment
Agreement, effective Jun 13, 2012. According to Respondent, Claimant's actions
which form the basis for his firing were either admitted by Claimant, or
established through credible testimony at arbitration. Respondent contends that
the actions of both MLS and the MLSPU left the Philadelphia Union no choice but
to exercise its discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreement, and to
determine that Claimant could not cure his misconduct. Respondent seeks an
Order dismissing Mr. Nowak's claim, upholding its counterclaims, awarding
appropriate relief regarding its counterclaims, and awarding if attorneys’ fees and
costs for this arbitration as well as the federal court matter in which Respondent
had to seek an order compeliing arbitration under the terms of the Employment

Agreement,

On the basis of the record evidence and the argumenits of the parties, |
conclude that Claimant has failed to prove that his firing was in'violation of the
Employment Agreement. Rather, | conclude that Claimant, through his conduet,
violated the terms of the Employment Agreement, and Respondent had the right
1o terminate him without being réquired to compensate-him from the period of his

termination through the end of his contract.
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Mr. Nowak was a talented coach, with a fiery and passionate digposition.
The Philadelphia Union was aware of these traits, and knew what they were
“buying” when they brought him in as their first coach. Mr, Nowak achieved
success, and at the end of 2011, the Philadelphia Union extended his contract
until December 201 5 However, Mr. Nowak engaged in a course of conduct in

2012 that justified his termination.

Turning to the language of the Employment Agreement, from which my
jurisdiction is based, | note that the Employment Agreement was the product of
joint negotiations, at which time the Claimant was represented by counsel.
Paragraph 1.1l sets out the respective rights of the parties in the situation of the
termination of the Employment Agreement. Subparagraph l1i (A) lists
circumstances under which Respondent could terminate Claimant for engaging in
specific acts. Subparagraph H} (B} grants Respondent the right to terminate the
Employment Agreement upon written notice to Claimant for any other reason, or

for no reason.

Remedies. to Claimant upon termination differ depending upon whether
the termination falls under 1Il (A) or-(B). In the situation of a 1Il (A) termination,
Respondentis only responsible to pay Claimant salary and bonuses earned but
not yet paid as of the date of termination. Undera lli (B) discharge, Respondent

is free toterminate the Employment Agreement, but must pay Claimant the base
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salary owed through the end of the contract term, which in this case would have
been December 2015. The parties have agreed in the Employment Agreement
that the determination of whether the termination falls under Hil (A) or (B) shall be

made "“in good faith by Club at its reasonable discretion.”-

The Employment Agreement goes on to state that before terminating the
Ciaimant pursuantto clause (2), (3) or (7) of Paragraph Ill (A), the Club shall
allow the Claimant 15 days to cure the occurrence, unless the Ciub determines,
in its good faith judgment, “that the occurrence is of a nature that is not curable or
that Manager's continued employment during a cure period could be reasonably
be (sic) éxpected to result in material harm to the Club.” Paragraphs (2), (3) and

(7) relate to the followirig conduct:

(2) Manager's willful failure, neglect or refusal to render services
hereunder, or any material breach of this Agreement or the Pino
Agreement as defined below by Manager;

(3) Manager's gross negligence or willful misconduct in performing his
duties hereunder;

(7) Manager's failure to comply in all material respects with Team Rules
‘(consistently applied to the coaching staff of the Team), or League Rules;

In its Termination letter to Claimant, Respondent indicated that it
terminated Mr. Nowak under the 11l (A) section of the Agreement, and then goes
on to list specific alleged acts of Claimant as Respondent's basis for it decision.

Respondent does not indicate which paragraph or paragraphis.it is relying upon
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under lil (A), but Respondent does include the cure language, concluding that
the infractions were not capable of being cured and it believed Claimant’s

continued employment by Club would continue to cause material harm to Club,

Respondent claims in its brief that the Philadelphia Union was forced to
terminate the Claimant by MLS and the MLSPU, going so far as to rely upon
paragraph Il (A) (8), which speaks to the situation where the Club is directed by
the Commissioner of the League to terminate Claimant. This argument goes
against the clear testimony of Respondent's witnesses. Mr. Sakiewicz testified
that Mr. Nowak’s termination was “100% his decision,” and that he based his
decisibn not just on the MLS report, but on other factors of which he had first-
hand knowledge. Mr, Sakiewicz refused to follow the recommendation of Mr.
Durbin to immediately move him away from players, and he allowed the Claimant
to train and coach while he was reviewing the allegations and speaking to
Philadelphia Union colleagues. Mr. Durbin of the League denied that he had
directed Mr. Sakiewicz to fire Claimant. There is no evidence that the

Commissioner of the League directed the Philadelphia Union to firé Mr. Nowak.

Moreover, this argument is contrary to the clear language of the
termination letter, which discusses the cure language of the Employment
Agreement. The cure language does not apply to the situation where the MLS
directs the termination of the Claimant. If the Philadelphia Union was relying

upon thie theory that the League had directed the Club to terminate the Claimant,
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there would have been no need to discuss whether Claimant could cure his
misconduct. Therefore, | conclude that the MLS and/or MLSPU did not direct or

require the Club to fire Mr. Nowak,

| further find, given the language of the termination letter, that Respondent
relied upon subparagraphs (2), (8) and (7) of Il (A) in firing Mr. Nowak.
Accordingly, 1 shall not consider arguments raised in Respondent’s brief related

to other bases for termination under the Employment Agreement.

Turning to the allegations against the Claimant, | find that the record
established that Mr. Nowak engaged in egregious misconduct in violation of the
above provisions of the Employment Agreement. | draw the below conclusions
based upon the credible testimonial and documentary evidence introduced in this

proceeding.

First, | conclude that Mr. Nowak interfered with players’ rights to engage in
‘union activities. His actions are téxtbook examples of attempts to interfere with,
restrairi or coerce employees from engaging in their profected right to consuit
with their Players’ Union representatives regarding their concerns over terms and
conditions of employment without reprie.al‘.'1 Mr. Nowak told players not to go to

the Player's Union, but instead deal with issues in-house. Mr. Nowak called the

G - G =nd V. G, into a closed door meeting, and

L'See, Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, 29 U,S.C §157.
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demanded to know the names of individuals who had complained to the Player's
Union. Mr. Nowak called Mr. @i 1ater by phone, again to try to get him to
name names. Such conduct was clearly coercive. Mr. Nowak went so far as to
call Mr. Foose of the Players’ Union, again demanding to know the names of
those who had complained. Mr, Nowak acknowledged his behavior to Mr.
Sakiewicz, demonstrating he did not understand the coercive effect of his actions

on the players.

Y 2 s traded only a few weeks
later. A reasonable Inféerence may be drawn tﬁat’ this.decision was an act of
retaliation by Mr. Nowak, given Mr. Nowak's above behavior, as well as his
testimony that he believed it was either Mr. GEENNENENENR ho had made the
complaints about the (N issue.

Turning to the next allegation, I conclude that Mr. Nowak engaged in
egregious behavior, threatening the safety and health of his players, with respect
to.the May 31, 2012 training run. After a difficuit loss to Toronto, the Claimant
held a team miseting, the intent of which was clearly to threaten players with
being traded, mentioning Mr. @by name, and advising them that planned
dayseoffwowd be cancelled, and further training would be scheduled. Given the
Claimant’s prior behavior, this threat had special significance.

®H ' - N 4 g1
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While a coach certainly needs to motivate players, and to that end can
require them to engage in arduous training, Mr. Nowak’s actions here crossed
the line. Mr. Nowak required all players, including those who were injured, to
engage in the training run of about 10 miles over uneven surface, against the
advice of the lead trainer, Mr. Rushing. Even though the players were running in
80 degree heat, the Claimant demanded that they run without water. Although
he initially-denied it, Mr. Nowak admitted that he went so far as to take bottles of
water out of players' hands and throw them inthe woods. The Claimant admits
that he said to players, “No fucking water, put the water back, water will make
you lose focus and if you're thirsty you are weak.” Mr. Nowak's claim that he was

only telling a story about another coach is simply not believable.

Mr. Nowak claimed at hearing that he was denying players water because
one of the players, Mr. G}, had the flu, and he did not want to spread the
disease. But Mr. Nowak never said this during the training run. If this were the
real reason, it could have been easily rectified, as the trainers had individual
bottles at the nearby fagility; or the trainers could have sprayed water-into-the
players’ mouths, Yet Mr: Nowak never directed the trainers to do either of these
things: Moreover, if Mr. Gl presence was a risk to others, he could have
been excluded from the run. But it was the Claimant’s decision that-all players

participate, no matter what their status.
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Mr. Rushing and the assistant trainer argued with the Claimant over the
fact that injured players were being forced to participate, and that all were being
denied water. Mr. Nowak refused to listen to the trainers, and Mr. Nowak told Mr.
Rushing that neither he nor the medical staff would make the decision as to
which players were healthy enough to play in each game or participate in training

Sessions.

Claimant argues that Respondent failed to prove that anyone was injured
as a result of the training run. The record did show that some players, especially
players hursing injuries, had ill effects from the run. Moreover, Claimant's
argument misses the point. The grievant's conduct on May 31, 2012 threatened
the safety and health of his players. Mr. Nowak put his players, his “assets" as
he called them, at significant risk of harm. His attitude towards his certified
trainers, in ignoring their advice, and telling thern he'was usurping their authority
going forward, reflected very bad judgment, and showed that in his mind, he was

always right. This indicates that Claimant's conduct could not have been “cured.”

Also going to the “cure” issue is the fact that in a later run, prior to his
firing, he allowed players water, but demanded that they be limited to differing
amounts. Indeed, he had lines. drawn on botties and told players that when they
finished that amount, that was it. This shé‘ws thateven after all the controversy

of the May 31 run, Mr. Nowak still believed his. mistaken approach to be correct.
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Moving on to another allegation, which is also related to the issue of
threats to the safety and health of players; is the Claimant’s proved behavior
regarding players who exhibited signs of concussions. It is simply unacceptable,
given'the common knowledge of the dangers of concussions, for a head coach to
vilify those who suffered from symptoms, by calling players “pussies” or "weak.”
Mr. Nowak's testimany that he attempted to resolve this issue by ordering
helmets for players is an ineffective band-aid. What is crucial here is that the
Claitnant never denied saying these things to players and he thereby encouraged
them to hide.their symptoms, which could result in serious consequences.
Claimant had an obligation to understand the protocol in place, or defer to his
trainers and medical staff on this issue, something he demonstrated he did not

want o do.

Next, the hazing of rookies, by spanking them, sometimes with a sandal,
was completely unacceptable. Mr. Nowak brought this practice to the
Philadelphia Union, His description.of what he did was quite unnerving,
especlally when he described how he put his hand in a bucket of ice water to
easeé his pain, obviously because he was hitting the young people so hard. In the
s < of the rookies spanked D While | take
notice of the fact that Mr.. Sakiewicz was made aware of the hazing, and could
have done more o stop it, | nevertheless conclude that the Claimant was
responsible for, participated in, and encouraged his veteran players to participate

inthis deplorable practice.
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Finally, Mr. Sakiewicz indicated in his testimony that in deciding to fire Mr.
Nowak he relied upon other actions by Claimant. First, there was evidence that
the Claimant attempted to.obtain other work while employed as head coach of
the Philadelphia Union, & violation of his Employment Agreement. Also, he made
disparaging statements about the Philadelphia Unlon and its management to
Shep. Messing, sportscaster and former agent. Mr. Nowak had a red card
ejection in April 2012, resulting in a fine and wspensioﬁ assessed against him
and fine assessed against the Club, for his leaving the Technical Area and
initiating eontact with an opposing player during a match with Chivas USA. This
was his second such red card-gjection while with the Club. Suspensions for both

were enforced in May 2012,

To summarize, the Claimant engaged in numerous acts justifying
termination under Section. 1:1(A) of the Employment Agreement. The Claimant
counters that Philadelphia Union breached the Employment Agreement first, by
failing to provide hiny with reasonable details regarding the reason for his
termination, & meaningful opportunity to respond to the accusations, and an

‘opportunity to cure any defects in his performance.

I note, first, that Pennsylvania is an employment at-will state.? Claimant is

not rélying upon any external statute or exception to the at-will doctrine.

z Geary v. U.S. Steel, 456 Pa, 171,184-(1974).
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Therefore, Claimant is limited to those rights he bargained for in his Employment
Agreement. The Employment Agreement does not grant the Claimant the right
to notice and an opportunity to respond before the decision to terminate is.made.
The Agreement granted Claimant the right to be given the reason he was being
terminated in reasonable detail. Mr, Sakiewicz did so in the letter of termination
which was given to Mr. Nowak on Juné 13, 2012. The Employmerit Agreement
further states that Claimant had the right to an opportunity to respond. Mr.
Nowak acknowledged that he was granted that right in the termination meeting
but did not seize that opportunity, instead he was dismissive of the charges
against him and gave no meaningful defense. In light of what Mr. Sakiewicz
knew about the Claimant's conduct, and the MLS report, Mr, Sakiewicz drew the
reasonable conclusion that the Claimant’s behavior could not be cured;

accordingly he was not granted 15 days to attempt to-do so.

Claimant has also-argued here that he was denied a meaningful
opportunity to respond to the charges as he-was notgiven a eopy of the MLS:
report until these arbitration proceedings, and he was not told the names of his
accusers. As to the latter point, Mr. Nowak acknowledged in his testimony that
he knew that it was his players who had been interviewed by the League, and
even professed fo knowing which ones hiad been interviewed. As to the issue of
the MLS report, | agree it would have been better if Respondent had allowed
Claimant the opportunity to review the report when he was terminated, so that he

could respond at the time. However, fo the extent there was any prejudice, it
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was cured in this arbitration proceeding, the right he bargained for in his
Employmént Agreement. In this forum, Claimant has had the full opportunity to
respond to the report, and to cross-examine his accusers. Accordingly, | find that
Claimant was granted all rights afforded to him underthe Employment

Agreement.

| conclude that Respondent did not viclate the Employment Agreement in
the manner it terminated the Claimant, nor did'iheya‘ot in bad faith. Moreover,
on the basis of the arbitral evidence, | find Respondent reasonably exercised its
discretion under the Employment Agreement by reaching the conclusion that

Claimant could not cure his misconduct ,.

Based upon all the above, | find that Claimant engaged in egregious
conduct, within the language of 1.1l (A) of the Employmient Agreement.
Accordingly, Claimant has not demonstrated that Respondent violated the

Employment Agreement by terminating Claimant.

In accordance with the Employment Agreement, Claimant is. entitled to
only the base salary amount and all bonuses earned but not paid as of date of
termination. Claimant here has requested that he receive the contract bonus for
being selected as Head Coach of the MLS All-Star game in 2012, [1{ake judicial
notice that Claimant was so selécted prior to his firing, but due to his breach of

the Employment Agreement, hie was unable to.serve in that position as the game
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took place after his termination. It is implicit that the parties agreed that the
Claimant would be able to serve as Coach of the All-Star game in order to be
entitled to the bonus; therefore Claimant did not “earn” the bonus. Accordingly, |
shall. deny Mr. Nowak’s claim that he receive those bonus monies. There was no
argument made by Claimant that he did not receive his base (‘:ompensatibn up to

his termination.

With respect to Respondent’s counterclaims, the parties have stipulated
that Mr. Nowak has failed to repay in full the Advance under the Pino Agreement,
and the Loan pursuant to the Amended Employiment Agreement upon his
termination. |therefore shall order that Claimant remit to Respondent the

amounts due at the applicable interest rate, as stipulated to by the parties.

| shalf further order that Respondent, as prevailing party, shall be entitled
to attorneys’ fees ‘and recoverable costs in connection with this arbitration
proceeding. Respondent also seeks attorneys' fees and costs in response to
Claimant's initial lawsuit against Philadelphia Union in U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District, and Respondent's sticcessful effort 1o compel arbitration in
accord with the-agreement of the parties. 1 shall order that Respondent is
entitled {o attorneys' fees and recoverable costs incurred in that lawsuit. Such
attorneys’ fees and costs shall be the subject of a fee petition, which in the
absence of agreement of the parties, shall be submitted to me for determination

within 60 days of this Award. | will retain jurisdiction over this issue.
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The parties entered into a conﬁdentiality agreement, by my Order, on
November 20, 2013, related to the “information, documentation or testimony
provided during discovery, hearings and/or at any arbitration in this matter.” The
parties seek a determination as to whether that confidentiality agreement stays in
effect, for how long it is effective, and how it shall apply fo the arbitration award in
this matter. In the absence of agreement, the parties shall submit to me their
respective positions with respect to the confidentiélit_y agreement within 60 days

of this Award.

48




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-8 Filed 01/05/16 Page 50 of 51
Pa Prof. Soccer LLC, et. al. v Nowak AAA Case No. 14-120-1200-1589

AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION

EMPLOYMENT ARBITRATION TRIBUNAL

in the Matter of Arbitration:

Piotr Nowak
The Claimant/
Counterclaim Respondent

V.

Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC
and Keystone Sports and Entertainment
LLC

The Respondent/

Counterclaim Claimant

v. Pino Sporis LLC
Gounterclaim Respondent

AAA Case No, 14 120 1200 1589

INTERIM AWARD OF THE ARBITRATOR

1, THE UNDERSIGNED ARBITRATOR, having been duly sworn and having duly
heard the proofs and allegations of the parties, HEREBY ORDER as follows:

1) All claims of Claimant submitted in this forum are DENIED.
2) Respondent's counterclaims are UPHELD.

~a) Inlight of the stipulation of the parties at hearing as to amount and rate
of interest, Claimant is ordered to pay Respondent in full the amount unearned at
the‘time Claimant was terminated, or $46,680.33 plus accumulated interest at
8% until paid, for the Advance under the Pino Agreement.

b) In light of the stipulation of the parties at hearing as to amount and rate
of inferest, Claimant is ordered to pay Respondent in full the amount unpaid at
thie time Claimant was terminated, or $53,717 plus accumulated interest at 7%
until paid, for the Loan pursuant to the 2011 Extension Employment Agreement.

3) Respondent, as prevailing party, shall be entitled to attorneys’ fees and
recoverable costs in connection with this arbitration proceeding in accordance
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with the parties’ Employment Agreement. Respondent shall also be entitled to
attorneys’ fees and recoverable costs in connection with Claimant's initial lawsuit
against Philadelphia Union in U.S. District Court for the Eastern District, and
Respondent’s successful effort to compel arbitration in accord with the
Employment Agreement. Such attorneys’ fees and costs shall be the subject of a
fee petition, which in the absence of agreement of the parties, shall be submitted
to me for determination within 60 days of this Interim Award. 1 will retain
jurisdiction over this issue for a reasonable period.

4) The parties shall submit their positions regarding the issues related to the
confidentiality agreement within 60 days of the issuance of this Interim Award, in
the absence of agreement of the parties. | will retain jurisdiction over the issue
for a reasonable period.

5) To date, Claimant is responsible for $12,500, and Respondent is responsible
for $4,050 in administrative fees and expenses of the American Arbitration
Association. To date, the compensation owed to the Arbitrator is $36,000 and
that fee shall be split between the parties.

Wuw o P\E‘ —
April 21,2015

Date T Margaret R. Brogan

I, Margaret R. Brogan, do hereby affirm upon my oath as Arbitrator that | am the
individual described in and who executed this instrument which is my Award.

Wn{»(" ((Z “K‘l —
April 21,2015 |

Date " Margaret R. Brogan
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